Urban development at Rome’s Porta Esquilina and church of San Vito over the longue durée
Margaret Andrews and Seth Bernard

San Vito’s modern location on the Esquiline betrays little of the importance of the church’s site in the pre-modern city (fig. 1). The small church was begun under Pope Sixtus IV for the 1475 jubilee and finished two years later along what was at that time the main route between Santa Maria Maggiore and the Lateran. Modern interventions, however, and particularly the creation of the quartiere Esquilino in the late 19th c., changed the traffic patterns entirely. An attempt was made shortly thereafter to connect it with the new via Carlo Alberto by reversing the church’s orientation and constructing a new façade facing this modern street. This façade, built into the original 15th-c. apse, was closed when the church was returned to its original orientation in the 1970s, and, as a result, San Vito today appears shuttered. In the ancient and mediaeval periods, by contrast, San Vito was set at a key point in Rome’s eastern environs. It was at this very spot that the main route from the Forum, leading eastward up the Argiletum and clivus Suburanus, crossed the Republican city-walls at the Porta Esquilina to become the consular via Tiburtina (fig. 2). The central of the original three bays of the Augustan arch marking the Porta Esquilina still stands against the W wall of the early modern church, bearing a rededication in A.D. 262 to Gallienus and his wife Salonina (fig. 3).

The area of this gate has attracted attention as an urban node, serving to check traffic along the major E–W path across the city, while forming an edge between the living city within the walls and the city of the dead represented by the large Esquiline necropolis outside them. After the reclamation of this burial ground in the early Principate, the area of the church sat at a dividing line between the urbs and the great suburban horti that grew up on the Esquiline’s immediate periphery. Current discussion of the urban and topographical importance of this site draws first upon discoveries made hereabouts by R. Lanciani in the 1870s. Exploration beneath San Vito itself would not come until 1972 when, under the

3 CIL VI 1106.
6 Along with Lanciani’s own published reports, see LTUR Suppl. II.1, 25-46 “L’Esquilino”